3/18

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

ALBERT J. HLAD, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 76,623

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 249238
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner, Albert Hlad, Jr., was charged with driving under the influence of alcohol (DUI) after having been three times previously convicted of DUI, a crime which is enhanced to a felony because of the three prior convictions pursuant to Section 316.193(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1987). Hlad v. State, 565 So.2d 762 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (Appendix). The petitioner sought to withdraw his plea and attacked the use of one of the prior DUI convictions for enhancement purposes, contending that the 1978 DUI conviction was uncounseled and counsel was not waived. Hlad v. State, supra. Following the denial of this motion to exclude the 1978 conviction, the petitioner appealed his felony judgment and sentence to the District Court of Appeal,

Fifth District. Id.

On appeal, the petitioner again attacked the use of the prior uncounseled misdemeanor conviction for enhancement purposes, relying in part on the case of <u>Baldasar v. Illinois</u>, 446 U.S. 222 (1980). <u>Hlad</u>, <u>supra</u>. Under <u>Baldasar</u>, the petitioner argued, the use of the prior uncounseled conviction to enhance the present offense violated his sixth amendment rights. The district court heard the case <u>en banc</u>. The majority opinion rejected the petitioner's <u>Baldasar</u> claim, relying on a law review article which speculates on the continued viability of the plurality decision of <u>Baldasar</u> given the current (in 1982, when the article was written) makeup of the United States Supreme Court, and citing the cases of <u>State v. Hanney</u>, 15 FLW 1149 (Fla. 2d DCA April 25, 1990); <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 105 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); and <u>Allen v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

The majority opinion, while rejecting the petitioner's claim, recognized a conflicting line of cases relied upon by the petitioner and by the dissenting opinion which support the constitutional impropriety of utilizing the uncounseled conviction for enhancement, to-wit: McKenney v. State, 388 So.2d 1232, 1234 (Fla. 1980); State v. Troehler, 546 So.2d 109 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Pilla v. State, 477 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); and Harrell v. State, 469 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), rev. den. 479 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1985). Hlad v. State, supra at 766 (majority opinion) and at 772 (Cowart, J., dissenting). Judge Cowart's dissent (joined by Chief Judge Daniel) recognized that the

<u>Baldasar</u> decision was a plurality opinion, but analyzed the concurring opinion therein to determine that Justice Blackmun would have afforded greater protection to the defendant if it had been necessary. Therefore, Judge Cowart concluded, the <u>Baldasar</u> opinion is the correct statement of constitutional law and should be followed in this case.

The petitioner timely filed his notice to seek the discretionary review of this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction on December 27, 1990. This brief on the merits follows.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The correct constitutional analysis, which was utilized by the dissenting opinion below, precludes the use of any prior uncounseled convictions for enhancement of a subsequent offense, which enhancement would result in jail time.

#### ARGUMENT

A PRIOR UNCOUNSELED MISDEMEANOR CONVICTION MAY NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY BE USED TO ENHANCE A SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE AND PUNISHMENT.

The majority opinion of the Fifth District in the instant case holds that prior uncounseled misdemeanor convictions may be constitutionally used to enhance a subsequent crime and punishment. This holding, if allowed to stand, would allow courts to ignore the clear mandate of the sixth amendment right to counsel by allowing uncounseled convictions to be used to increase punishment in a subsequent case.

A conviction obtained in violation of a defendant's constitutional right to counsel cannot be used by the state in a subsequent criminal proceeding to increase the degree of the crime and the punishment. Baldasar v. Illinois, 446 U.S. 222 (1980); Burgett v. Texas, 389 U.S. 109 (1967). This holding stems from the rule that, pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 16, Florida Constitution, no person may be imprisoned for any offense unless he was represented by counsel at trial or unless he knowingly and intelligently waived counsel. Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367 (1979); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972). However, in the instant case, the Fifth District holds, contrary to the Baldasar decision, that a prior uncounseled misdemeanor conviction may be used to enhance the degree and punishment of a subsequent offense if the prior conviction was not punishable by

more than six months imprisonment. <u>Hlad v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 762 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

In <u>Harrell v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), rev. den. 479 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1985); and in Pilla v. State, 477 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the first and fourth districts both correctly followed the decision in Baldasar v. Illinois, supra, in ruling that a prior uncounseled conviction may not constitutionally be used to enhance punishment of a subsequent offense, even if the former offense was not punishable by imprisonment exceeding six months. While the prior convictions, under these cases and Baldasar, remained valid and were not subject to attack (since sentences of imprisonment were not imposed), nonetheless they could not be used to enhance a later offense (which would involve incarceration in excess of six months) without violating the right to counsel under the sixth amendment and Article I, Section 16, Florida Constitution. The majority opinion fails to recognize this distinction between the validity of the prior conviction (where no imprisonment was imposed) and the impermissibility of an enhancement based on the prior conviction (where incarceration is involved). The crucial question involved is whether the lack of counsel is contributing to incarceration.

This Court in McKenney v. State, 388 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 1234); and the fourth district in State v. Troehler, 546 So.2d 109 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), both utilized the rationale of Baldasar v. Illinois, supra, to hold that, where counsel had not been

waived, an uncounseled conviction to a second degree misdemeanor "cannot be used under an enhanced penalty statute to convert a subsequent misdemeanor into a felony with a prison term" (although in McKenney the Court ultimately ruled that the defendant had waived counsel for the prior misdemeanor). McKenney v. State, supra at 1234.

These decisions all upheld the constitutional right to counsel since the uncounseled convictions (although not involving imprisonment themselves) did directly result in enhancement and increased punishment of the subsequent offenses. The majority opinion in <u>Hlad</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the cases it relies on, have failed to recognize this important correlation which results in a deprivation of constitutional magnitude.

Instead, as noted by the dissenting opinion in the instant case, the majority opinion attempts to avoid Argersinger v. Hamlin and Baldasar v. Illinois, by engaging in an analysis of concurring and dissenting opinions and attempting to predict the future of the United States Supreme Court. This analysis cannot withstand critical review. Judge Cowart, in his dissenting opinion joined by Chief Judge Daniel, aptly shows the deficiencies of the majority opinion and the cases on which it relies. Hlad, supra at 771-772. Judge Cowart notes that, while the Baldasar decision was a plurality opinion, the plurality declared that a prior uncounseled misdemeanor conviction (even one which did not itself involve incarceration) could not be used to enhance a subsequent conviction and cause an increased term of

incarceration. The majority opinion in the instant case misreads

Justice Blackmun's concurring opinion in <u>Baldasar</u> as imposing a

greater restriction on the right to counsel, when it, instead,

sought to extend that right.

Justice Blackmun concurred in the court's decision that the prior uncounseled conviction could not be used to support enhancement and based his decision on his dissent in Scott, declaring that the defendant was entitled to counsel in the prior misdemeanor prosecution since that offense was punishable by more than six months' imprisonment and that conviction was invalid because of In other words, the absence of counsel. Justice Blackmun did not reach the issue of use of the misdemeanor conviction in the subsequent proceeding to enhance imprisonment because in his view, that misdemeanor conviction itself was constitutionally invalid. Justice Blackmun provides no clue as to how he would rule if the State sought to use a misdemeanor conviction valid under his right to counsel test to subsequently enhance imprisonment.

The majority opinion in this case concludes that Justice Blackmun would permit use of the 1978 misdemeanor conviction against Hlad because the maximum incarceration faced by Hlad at that time was six months. The majority opinion erroneously focuses just on the existence vel non of a right to counsel on the 1978 charge because Justice Blackmun focused on the earlier misdemeanor Under the guise of following charge. Justice Blackmun's opinion, the majority totally ignores the current use of the uncounseled misdemeanor conviction to increase Hlad's punishment and thus contradicts the rationale of Argersinger and Scott. Indeed, it seems more likely than not that Justice Blackmun, who sought unsuccessfully to extend the right to counsel in Scott v. Illinois would not permit an uncounseled misdemeanor conviction to be used to subsequently increase a defendant's imprisonment. Further, the primary source for the majority's position, Professor Rudstein [footnote omitted] concludes that, "The better rule would prohibit enhancement use of all prior uncounseled misdemeanor convictions if the accused had not validly waived the right to counsel." [Rudstein, "The Collateral Use of Uncounseled Misdemeanor Convictions after **Scott** and **Baldasar**, 34 University of Florida Law Review 517, 535 (1982).

Justice Blackmun dissented in Scott; and in his specially concurring opinion in Baldasar, Justice Blackmun referred to his dissent in <u>Scott</u> but recognized that Scott is controlling law and merely lamented that the issue in Baldasar would probably not have arisen if his dissent had been adopted by the majority view in Scott. However, neither Argersinger nor Scott was overruled or invalidated merely because in Justice Blackmun's concurring opinion in Baldasar Justice Blackmun referred to his dissent in Scott, nor is the holding in Baldasar limited merely because the result in Baldasar could have resulted under Justice Blackmun's dissenting view in Scott. The majority opinion in this case uses Justice Blackmun's reference in his concurring opinion in Baldasar to his own dissenting view in Scott as justification for not applying Scott and Baldasar in this case. With all due respect to Professor Rudstein, Justice Blackmun's individual views as expressed in his dissent in Scott (with which none of the other eight justices agreed), and in his special concurring opinion in Baldasar, (with which again none of the other eight justices agreed), do not constitute the opinion of the Supreme Court of the United States. Baldasar is viable, in point and controlling and requires a reversal in this case.

Hlad v. State, 565 So.2d at 771-772 (Cowart, J., dissenting).

This Court should not engage in needless speculation,

as the fifth district has done, as to what the current United States Supreme Court would do if faced with the issue. As Judge Cowart correctly notes, the current state of the law on the issue is <u>Baldasar v. Illinois</u>, <u>supra</u>, which case is still viable and controlling. Even if the United States Supreme Court were to recede from <u>Baldasar</u> at some time in the future, this Court is still empowered to afford greater protections to the rights of the accused, including the right to counsel, under Florida's Constitution, which the petitioner urges this Court to do. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984).

The courts continue to apply the rationale and requirements of <u>Baldasar</u> and <u>State v. Troehler</u>, <u>supra</u>, even to uncounseled second degree misdemeanors being used to improperly enhance. In <u>Ousley v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 422 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), the fourth district vacated a guidelines sentence where an uncounseled conviction for driving without a license was improperly included in a guidelines scoresheet and hence used to enhance punishment on a subsequent offense.

An uncounseled misdemeanor conviction, even if it, itself, did not result in jail time, cannot be used to enhance a subsequent offense and thus directly contribute to increased incarceration. This Court must preserve the vitality of the right to counsel as guaranteed by the Florida and federal constitutions by vacating the majority opinion of the fifth district in the instant case and striking the prior uncounseled conviction for enhancement purposes.

#### CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the petitioner requests that this Honorable Court vacate the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, adopt the dissenting opinion therein, and remand with instructions to vacate the felony DUI conviction and reduce it to a misdemeanor.