0/A4-10-91

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SIL) J. WHITE

res 13 1997

RK, SUPREME COURT

ALBERT J. HLAD, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.

76,623

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #438847
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's prior uncounseled misdemeanor conviction was properly used to prove one of three prior convictions for driving This issue is not preserved for appellate under the influence. Since the prior conviction was used to prove a substantive element of the crime of felony driving under the influence, Appellant's admissions of three prior convictions for driving under the influence proved that element. Even if the prior conviction was used as a penalty enhancer rather than proof of an element of the crime, the conviction was valid for that purpose. Hlad's sentence did not exceed the penalty for a third driving under the influence conviction. Accordingly, sentence is not a direct consequence of the use of the prior uncounseled conviction, and therefore, is valid. Finally, Appellant does not qualify for relief because he failed to allege or prove that he was indigent at the time of his uncounseled conviction.

ARGUMENT

APPELLANT'S PRIOR UNCOUNSELED MISDEMEANOR CONVICTION WAS PROPERLY USED TO PROVE ONE OF THREE PRIOR CONVICTIONS FOR DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE.

Petitioner, Albert J. Hlad, Jr. [hereinafter "Hlad"], complains that his 1978 misdemeanor conviction for driving under the influence [hereinafter "DUI"] should not have been used as one of the three DUI's needed to prove his felony DUI conviction under Florida Statutes §316.193(1), (2)(b) (Supp. 1988). His basis for this assertion is his claim that the 1978 conviction is invalid because it was uncounseled. Respondent, the State of Florida [hereinafter "the state"], contends that this issue is not properly before this Court because Hlad has no right to appeal his conviction.

Near the end of his trial for felony DUI, after discussing the matter with his attorney, Hlad decided to, and did, plead guilty to felony DUI. (R 296, 300, 349-350). The law is well settled that: "A defendant may not appeal from a judgment entered upon a plea of guilty." Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b)(1). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

The state recognizes that if the subject provision of the felony DUI law is a penalty enhancement provision, as opposed to a substantive element of the crime, the state's preservation argument fails. The provision at issue provides: "Any person

Hlad first raised the instant issue in a post conviction motion. His plea to, and conviction of, felony DUI were entered on July 14, 1988. (R 298-299, 348-356). His Motion to Strike Prior Conviction was filed more than two months later, on September 20, 1988. (R 314-317).

who is convicted of a fourth or subsequent violation of subsection (1) is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084" [hereinafter "the conviction element"]. § 316.193(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). The state asserts that this Honorable Court has recently determined that the subject provision is an element of the crime of felony DUI, and therefore, the preservation argument is valid and dispositive of Hlad's instant appeal.

In State v. Rodriguez, 16 F.L.W. 32, 33 (Fla. Jan. 3, 1991), this Court held that "the existence of three or more prior DUI convictions is an essential fact constituting the substantive offense of felony DUI." (emphasis added). Further, that "three prior DUI convictions combine as an essential element of felony DUI." (emphasis added) Id. The conviction element requires proof of three prior convictions. § 316.193(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988).

The three prior convictions were proved by Hlad's admission to same. Hlad entered his guilty plea to the crime as charged. (R 296, 300, 349-350). The charge included that "Hlad having been three times previously convicted of the crime of Driving Under the Influence" was guilty of felony DUI. (R 275). The fact of Hlad's guilty plea precludes his instant challenge to his guilt of felony DUI by attacking an element which he admitted by plea.

Assuming arguendo that Hlad may properly challenge the use of the 1978 conviction to prove the conviction element of the instant crime, he is not entitled to relief. The statute

requires only that the state prove Hlad was convicted of three prior DUIs - which would include the subject 1978 conviction. Whether Hlad has been convicted of three prior DUIs is a question of fact. See State v. Rodriguez, supra. The facts proving the prior convictions consisted of Hlad's testimony that he had been convicted of three prior DUIs, to-wit: a quilty plea to DUI entered in 1978, a DUI in 1983 and one in 1984.² (R 253, 255, 353). Also, that Hlad pled guilty to the instant felony DUI as charged, thereby admitting that he had the three requisite prior state asserts that these facts were DUI convictions. The sufficient to enable a reasonable factfinder to conclude that the conviction element had been proven.

At trial, Hlad sought to counter this evidence with testimony which he thought would show that the 1978 conviction was invalid. To that end, Hlad testified:

Defense Attorney: Can you describe for the Court the circumstances as to how the plea came to be entered?

Hlad: I went in the court at that time, and in 1978 I went in front of Judge Stone, and he told me I was being charged with DUI, how did I wished (sic) to plead, and I pleaded guilty. It was an \$80 fine and court costs.

Q. Was there any conversation concerning having an attorney?

A. No.

During the plea colloquy, the state requested, "Can we make one thing clear? That he is pleading to the D. U. I. with three prior D. U. I.'s." (R 353). Thereafter, the court asked Hlad, "Are you pleading having had three prior convictions?" (R 353). Hlad responded, "Yes, sir." (R 353).

Q. Was there any conversation concerning having an attorney appointed for you?

A. No.

Q. Was there any conversation concerning disadvantages that may occur had you proceeded without counsel on your own?

A. No.

- Q. And you had no attorney through any of those proceedings then?
- A. No. He explained to me on a guilty plea to a nolo contendere it was an \$80 fine, and so I figured being an \$80 fine that I will go ahead and pay the \$80, and court costs, and that's all there was.
- Q. Okay. You were not aware of your right to an attorney?

A. No.

(R 253-254). It is well settled that a trier of fact may believe all or part of a witnesses' testimony, and conversely, that he may reject all or any part of it.

The state asserts that the evidence was sufficient to prove the conviction element. The trial judge was not required to believe Hlad's testimony that the conviction was uncounseled or that he was not aware that he could have an attorney. In fact, the record shows that the trial judge reasonably regarded Hlad to be a liar. (See R 248, 297). As the judge pointed out, Hlad

During the course of Hlad's trial, the trial judge sua sponte entered an order of probable cause to believe that Hlad had committed perjury in the court's presence. (R 297). The trial judge expressed his belief that Hlad had lied throughout his trial and indicated that he considered Hlad's uncorroborated testimony at the subsequent hearings unworthy of belief. See R

did not raise this issue when one of his earlier DUI convictions was entered even though the sentence therefor was enhanced based on the 1978 conviction. (R 259). The state asserts that the factfinder reasonably rejected Hlad's testimony regarding the uncounseled nature of his 1978 conviction.

It is well established that it is the factfinder's job to decide which testimony to believe. That decision will not be overturned unless it cannot be said that any reasonable person would have adopted the view taken by the factfinder. It is obvious from the record that the trier of fact, the judge, did not believe Hlad's testimony that he did not have, and did not know he could have, an attorney represent him at the 1978 proceeding. That determination is not reversible on appeal. See Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), affirmed, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982).

Assuming arguendo that the issue is one of law as Hlad claims, rather than fact as this Court said in *Rodriguez*, the inquiry is whether Hlad's 1978 conviction is valid. If it is a valid conviction, the conviction element of the felony DUI is

^{248.} Hlad entered a guilty plea to the perjury charge on March 1, 1989. (Appendix B at 12).

Also, it is interesting to note that the trial judge asked Hlad's attorney, Stuart Hyman, to argue his case in light of State v. Caudle, 504 So.2d 419 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Mr. Hyman, who was Caudle's attorney on appeal, pointed out that the reason Caudle's challenge to his prior conviction failed was that he did not testify that "he did not have an attorney, and was not told that he could have an attorney. . . . " (R 257). Of course, in the instant case, Hlad testified specifically to those two factors.

 $^{^{5}}$ A final judgment of conviction is presumed valid. See State v. Harris, 356 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1978).

proved. At the trial level, Hlad contended that his 1978 conviction was invalid because it was uncounseled, and because it was invalid, it could not be used to prove the conviction element. (R 314, 257). However, on appeal, he concedes "that he was not incarcerated for the 1978 conviction." Hlad v. State, 565 So.2d 762, 764 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Therefore, Hlad's 1978 conviction is valid. See Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367, 374, 99 S.Ct. 1158, 1162, 59 L.Ed.2d 383 (1979). The fact of a valid conviction proves the substantive element at issue. The state asserts that since the subject provision is an element of the crime rather than a penalty enhancer, whether the 1978 conviction is valid for purposes of sentence enhancement is irrelevant. 6

Assuming arguendo that the issue is whether an uncounseled prior conviction can be used to enhance a sentence for a subsequent offense, Hlad is not entitled to relief. The Fifth District Court of Appeal sitting en banc carefully analyzed the relevant case law on this issue and concluded that Hlad's 1978 DUI conviction could be used because he "had no constitutional right to appointed counsel in 1978 " Hlad v. State, supra, at 767. Therefore, even if Hlad did not have appointed counsel in 1978 and/or did not waive such counsel, his 1978 conviction for DUI is valid and may be used as one of the three requisite prior convictions. See Id. at 764. Case law well supports the district court's decision.

The penalty for felony DUI is a separate matter. It is governed by Florida Statutes §775.082, §775.083 or §775.084. See § 316.193(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988).

In Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25, 26, 92 S.Ct. 2006, 2007, 32 L.Ed.2d 530 (1972), an indigent defendant was tried and convicted of a petty offense and sentenced to jail. The Court held that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel extends to petty offenses and unless the right is waived, the accused cannot be incarcerated for the offense if he is tried without an attorney. Id. at 407 U.S. 38. Accordingly, Argersinger's conviction was invalid for any purpose.

Seven years later, in Scott v. Illinois, supra, the Court held that "no indigent criminal defendant" can be incarcerated "unless the State has afforded him the right to assistance of appointed counsel in his defense." Id. at 440 U.S. 374. The Court adopted "actual imprisonment as the line defining the constitutional right to appointment of counsel." Id. at 440 U.S. 373. Therefore, a conviction is valid even though counsel is not afforded to the defendant if the defendant is not actually incarcerated.

The following year, the Court decided Baldasar v. Illinois, 446 U.S. 222, 100 S.Ct. 1585, 64 L.Ed.2d 169 (1980), reh'g denied, 447 U.S. 930, 100 S.Ct. 3030, 65 L.Ed.2d 1125 (1980). In Baldasar, the indigent defendant was prosecuted for petty theft. 446 U.S. at 224. Upon conviction, the state sought to have the penalty enhanced based on a state law providing that "[a] second conviction for the same offense, however, may be treated as a felony with a prison term of one to three years." Id. Baldasar had a prior uncounseled conviction for petty theft. Id.

 $^{^{7}}$ Florida's felony DUI statute provides that a person convicted

On the issue of using the prior uncounseled conviction to enhance the penalty, the Court split 4-1-4. The plurality held that Baldasar's "prior conviction was not valid for all purposes. Specifically, under the rule of Scott and Argersinger, it was invalid for the purpose of depriving petitioner of his liberty." U.S. 226. 446 The dissenters determined that Id.conviction was valid under Scott because Baldasar was incarcerated, and therefore, it could be used to enhance the penalty. Id. at 446 U.S. 1589-1592. Justice Blackmun agreed that the enhancement was unconstitutional, but only because the prior conviction was invalid for any purpose. Id. at 446 U.S. 1589.

Justice Blackmun stated:

10 g + 10 10 10 g + 10 10

"Accordingly, I would hold that an indigent defendant in criminal case must afforded be whenever appointed counsel prosecuted for defendant is nonpetty criminal offense, that is, one punishable by more than six months' imprisonment whenever the defendant is convicted actually of an offense and is subjected to a term of imprisonment. . . . "

(emphasis added) *Id.* He concluded that Baldasar's prior conviction is invalid because it was punishable by more than six months incarceration. *Id.*

of a fourth violation of the statute "is guilty of a felony . . " as opposed to "may be treated as a felony." See §316.193(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). The state submits that this difference indicates that the subject provision is a substantive element of the felony DUI statute as this Court said in Rodriguez, while the language of the Illinois statute merely made it possible to enhance a sentence.

Under the opinion of the four dissenters, Hlad's 1978 conviction is valid under *Scott* in that no incarceration was imposed. Because it is valid, it may be used to enhance Hlad's sentence. Under Justice Blackmun's opinion, Hlad's conviction is also valid, and therefore, it may be used to enhance his sentence. This is so because Hlad's 1978 conviction was not punishable by more than six months' incarceration and Hlad was not actually imprisoned.

Accordingly, Hlad's 1978 conviction is valid for purposes of enhancement of his sentence for the felony DUI under the reasoning of five of the nine members of the United States Supreme Court. 9 The Fifth District Court of Appeal's conclusion that Hlad's "1978 conviction was not "constitutionally invalid for enhancement purposes' is based on that reasoning. 565 So.2d at 764. At least two other district courts of appeal have reached the same conclusion on this issue. See Allen v. State, 463 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) [reclassification to felony petit theft]; StateHanney, 571 So.2d v. 5 (Fla. 1990) ["enhancement" to felony DUI]. But see Harrell v. State, 469 So.2d 169, 170-172 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), rev. denied, 479 So.2d 118

 $^{^{8}}$ Hlad's only penalty was to pay an \$80 fine and court costs. (R 254).

The state contends that <code>Baldasar</code> is inapplicable unless the subject provision is a penalty enhancement statute which converts a misdemeanor into a felony with a prison term. <code>See</code> Moore v. Jarvis, 885 F.2d 1565, 1571 n.14 (11th Cir. 1989)(quoting United States v. Peagler, 847 F.2d 756, 758-59 (11th Cir. 1988)). Of course, the state asserts that the subject provision is a substantive element of the crime of felony DUI, and therefore, <code>Baldasar</code> does not control the disposition of the instant case. <code>See</code> Appellee's answer brief, <code>supra</code>, at 2-7.

(Fla. 1985)[uncounseled misdemeanor conviction cannot be sole basis for revocation of probation and imprisonment]. 10

Further, the reasoning employed by the majority in Hlad, has been applied in related contexts. In Cooper v. State, 538 So.2d 105, 106 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), the court held that "points from defendant's previous convictions may be used to enhance the defendant's sentence on this conviction if the defendant did not have a right to counsel in the prior proceedings." See $Hamm\ v$. State, 521 So.2d 354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). In Leffew v. State, 518 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), the Second District Court of Appeal followed the Allen court's Baldasar analysis, concluding that uncounseled convictions can be used to enhance a sentence unless the defendant had a right to counsel and counsel was not provided or waived. The Fourth District Court of Appeal has also applied the "right to counsel" standard to a penalty enhancement pursuant to Florida's Habitual Offender Statute. See Broderick v. State, 564 So.2d 622, 623 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

Hlad claims that in *McKenney v. State*, 388 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 1980), this Court used the *Baldasar* rationale "to hold that, where counsel had not been waived, an uncounseled conviction to a second degree misdemeanor "cannot be used under an enhanced penalty statute to convert a subsequent misdemeanor into a felony with a prison term" " (Appellant's initial brief at 6-7).

The district court carefully limited its decision in *Harrell*, as follows: "Our opinion here is directed only to those cases where the state seeks to revoke probation solely on the basis of a valid conviction, and offers no other ground for revocation." 469 So.2d at 171.

The state asserts that this representation is inaccurate. 11 McKenney held that where counsel had been waived, the prior uncounseled conviction could be used to enhance a penalty under the habitual offender law. The McKenney decision does not analyze the "right to counsel" issue, nor does it prohibit the result reached by the Hlad court below. 12

Assuming arguendo that the *Baldasar* plurality opinion is definitive on the instant issue, the state asserts that Hlad is not entitled to relief. It is well established that a conviction is presumed valid. *See State v. Harris*, 356 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1978). However, under the plurality opinion, a prior uncounseled conviction is not valid for enhancement purposes where an indigent defendant did not have an attorney and did not waive one. 446 U.S. at 226. The state submits that the burden

In McKenney, the defendant was charged with, and convicted of, misdemeanor, "assignation." 388 So.2d at 1233. sentencing, the trial judge declared McKenney to be a "habitual misdemeanant." Id.The basis of the habitual offender classification was prior uncounseled conviction а The issue before this Court was whether the prostitution. Id. prior conviction could be used for that purpose.

This Court briefly referenced Baldasar, noting that: "The Court did not hold that all uncounseled convictions were per se invalid for purposes of imposing a sentence of imprisonment, only those which could not themselves have supported incarceration." Id. at 1234-1235. This Court then concluded that since McKenney had waived counsel in the prior case, that conviction could have supported incarceration. Accordingly, the prior uncounseled conviction was properly used as the basis for penalty enhancement under the habitual offender law.

The state contends that *McKenney* does not bar the use of Hlad's 1978 conviction to prove a substantive element of the crime of felony DUI. However, even if the subject conviction is being used under a penalty enhancement provision, *McKenney* does not prohibit the result reached by the *Hlad* court below. *McKenney* is not an exhaustive analysis of the *Baldasar* decision; it deals with only one aspect of the issue - waiver of counsel.

to show that the presumptively valid conviction is in fact invalid for the purpose of sentence enhancement must fall on the one attacking the conviction's validity. See Moore v. Michigan, 355 U.S. 155, 162, 78 S.Ct. 191, 195, 2 L.Ed.2d 167 (1957); Broderick v. State, supra, at 624.

In Broderick v. State, supra, the court said that any conviction "for which the defendant did not waive his right to counsel" cannot be considered for penalty enhancement. 564 So.2d at 624. To prevent the use of the prior conviction, the defendant must show that he "had a right to counsel . . . and that he did not waive that right." Id.See also Allen v. State, supra, at 364 [defendant has burden to prove challenged conviction invalid by preponderance of the evidence; his "bald assertion" insufficient]. In the instant case, Hlad had ample opportunity to show that he had a right to counsel, but he was unable to do so because he was not incarcerated for the prior conviction. Likewise, he failed to show that he did not waive any right to counsel that he might have had. 13 The state contends that Hlad

In his dissenting opinion, Judge Cowart states several times that Hlad gave sworn testimony that he did not waive counsel in the 1978 proceeding. See, e.g., 565 So.2d at 1, 21, 31 (Cowart, J., dissenting). The state respectfully submits that this characterization of Hlad's testimony is inaccurate. Hlad had at least two opportunities to raise the instant issue below, the plea hearing and the subsequent hearing on the post-conviction motion to strike the 1978 conviction. At the plea hearing, Hlad did not testify that he did not have an attorney or that he did not waive one. (R 348 - 356). At the motion hearing, Hlad testified that he did not have an attorney, but he did not testify that he did not waive one. (R 252-256). Hlad was not asked if he read or signed a written waiver of counsel. Rather, his testimony was that there was no conversation about an attorney.

failed to carry his burden, and the presumption of validity has not been overcome. 14

Hlad cites State v. Troehler, 546 So.2d 109 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), for the proposition that the state has the burden to show that he had counsel or that he waived it. In Troehler, the state introduced a certified printout of Troehler's driving record, showing three prior convictions for DUI. 546 So.2d at 110. Troehler attacked the validity of one conviction, testifying that he did not have counsel. Id. He requested and received a continuance to gather evidence to corroborate his testimony. Id. Despite his extensive efforts to find record support for his claim, he was unable to do so. Thereafter, the trial judge "weighed the evidence, finding in favor of the defendant on the issue." 15

In *Troehler*, the district court discussed two cases on the issue of the burden of proof, *Smith v. State*, 498 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) and *Croft v. State*, 513 So.2d 759 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). 546 So.2d at 110. *Smith* appears to place the burden on the state

In his dissenting opinion, Judge Cowart acknowledges the presumptive validity of a conviction, however, he argues that "The issue is not whether or not the defendant's 1978 misdemeanor judgment of conviction is "valid.'" 565 So.2d at 770. He contends that the issue is whether Hlad had or waived counsel in his 1978 case. *Id.* The state disagrees and points out that the holding of the plurality opinion is that "[P]etitioner's prior conviction was not valid for all purposes . . . [I]t was invalid for the purpose of depriving petitioner of his liberty." 446 U.S. at 226. Accordingly, validity is the question, and since the presumption is that all convictions are valid, the burden to prove that a particular conviction is invalid for a particular purpose must fall on the one attacking the conviction's validity.

The trial judge enhanced Troehler's sentence pursuant to Florida Statutes § 316.193(2)(a)2.c. (1987), and sentenced him as a third offender. 546 So.2d at 110.

to show that the defendant had counsel or waived it. *Id.* In Croft, the court held, "'A duly entered judgment of conviction and sentence, however, is presumed valid, and a defendant attacking the validity of prior convictions has the burden of proving the alleged grounds by a preponderance of the evidence.'" *Id.*

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